VILNIUS UNIVERSITY MEDICAL FACULTY

The Final thesis

Infusion Therapy in Sepsis and Septic Shock

Chiara Colaric S1730729 VI year 1st group

Institute of Clinical Medicine, Clinic of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care

Supervisor:

Prof. (HP) dr. Jūratė Šipylaitė

The Head of Clinic:

Prof. (HP) dr. Jūratė Šipylaitė

2023

Email of student: chiara.colaric@mf.stud.vu.lt

Table of Contents

- 1. Summary
- 2. Keywords
- 3. Introduction
- 4. Sepsis
 - 4.1 Etiology
 - 4.2 History
 - 4.3 Criteria
 - 4.4 Symptoms
 - **4.5 Diagnosis**
 - 4.6 Screening methods
 - 4.7 Treatment
 - 4.8 Source control
- 5. Infusion Therapy
 - 5.1 Sepsis Resuscitation
 - 5.2 Optimal Fluid Management after Resuscitation
 - 5.3 Fluid choice
 - **5.4 Crystalloids**
 - 5.5 Colloids
 - 5.6 Crystalloids vs. Colloids
 - 5.7 Early Goal-Directed Therapy (EGDT)
- 6. Vasopressors
 - 6.1 Norepinephrine
 - 6.2 Other vasoactive agents
- 7. Conclusion

1. Summary

Sepsis poses a great challenge to healthcare providers with its high frequency and mortality rates, and remains one of the most common causes of emergency admissions to the intensive care unit (ICU) globally. In high income countries it is often associated with older age, comorbidities, and the use of immunosuppressants, while the epidemiology of sepsis in low and middle income countries remains less understood. (1)

In 2017 sepsis has been made a global health priority by the World Health Organisation (WHO) and the World Health Assembly in order to improve the prevention, diagnosis methods, and management of sepsis. (1)

Through improved surveillance, as well as an advanced support for organ failure, the inhospital mortality rates have fallen from 80% to 20-30% in the span of decades. However, there is still a need for further research in order to better identify patient populations and personalize treatments. (2)

Although the role of intravenous (IV) fluid administration has played a major role in sepsis management in the past decades, the question regarding which fluid and what dosage still remain widely unanswered. An important topic in sepsis management is fluid choice, dose, and administration, hence the wide variety of research and clinical trials. (3) Below we will discover which fluids are best suited for the management of sepsis and which ones are no longer recommended.

Early diagnosis and prompt intervention are crucial in the survival of sepsis, hence the need for awareness and knowledge about the treatment and infusion methods. The in-hospital mortality rates have decreased over past years through better surveillance, early treatment of underlying infection, and timely detection of the disease. (4)

2. Keywords:

Fluid resuscitation, infusion therapy, sepsis, septic shock, crystalloids, colloids, albumin

3. Introduction

Sepsis, which is a dysregulated systemic response to severe forms of infection, manifests with hypovolemia and vasodilatation among many other symptoms. It is also one of the most common conditions in patients that are admitted to the intensive care unit. (5) One of the treatments for sepsis is fluid resuscitation which aims to restore the intravascular volume, cardiac output, and oxygen delivery. The volume and choice of resuscitation fluids is of great importance when talking about the treatment of sepsis and septic shock. (6)

Colloids and crystalloids are used for fluid resuscitation in critically ill patients; the difference between those is important when choosing the appropriate fluids for treatment. Crystalloids are classified by tonicity into three types: isotonic crystalloid solutions, hypertonic crystalloid solutions, and hypotonic crystalloid solutions. They contain small molecules, are easy to use, and are cheap, however they might increase the incidence of oedema. Colloids contain larger molecules, provide a faster volume expansion into the intravascular space, however they are more costly and may trigger allergic reactions, blood clotting disorders, as well as kidney failure. (7)

In the treatment of sepsis, antibiotic therapy together with fluid administration to restore hemodynamics is the first line therapy. The way in which hemodynamics are restored is by administering intravenous fluid boluses using crystalloid solutions rather than colloid solutions. (8)

4. Sepsis

When the human body is exposed to a severe infection, a complex and dysregulated inflammatory response could result. This type of improper response to an infection is called Sepsis, which is a life-threatening condition that requires urgent treatment to prevent the progression to septic shock and acute organ failure, most often resulting in death. It is one of the most common causes of death among patients in the Intensive care unit, and particularly difficult to diagnose in such a setting due to multiple comorbidities and underlying diseases. Without prompt and aggressive treatment, patients frequently progress to septic shock, as well as multiple organ failure. (9)

4.1 Aetiology

The infection leading to sepsis is most commonly caused by bacteria, typically originating from the respiratory, genitourinary, or gastrointestinal systems, as well as the skin or soft tissues. While the most common source of sepsis are bacteria, any infective organism can cause sepsis, including fungi, parasites and viruses. Since the aetiology of sepsis is so wide, the range of presentations of sepsis is extremely wide and varies between geographical locations. (10)

Sepsis can result from a stay in a hospital or any health care facility, or it can originate from community locations. The most common site of infection that leads to sepsis are the lungs, followed by the abdomen with an incidence of 64% and 20%, respectively. (11)

An almost equal prevalence in gram-positive and gram-negative infections among patients with sepsis has been reported by the Sepsis Occurrence in Acutely Ill Patients (SOAP) study, however, gram-positive bacterial infections might now be more common. (12)

The most frequently identified organisms are *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Pseudomonas* species, and *Escherichia coli*. The risk factors for sepsis include age, immunosuppression, recent treatment with antibiotics or corticosteroids, invasive medical devices, and admission to the intensive care unit. (13)

4.2 History

Originally, in 1989 and subsequently in 1992, sepsis was defined as the "maladaptive systemic manifestation of an infection". In the 1992 consensus it was proposed that severe sepsis be defined as "sepsis complicated by acute organ dysfunction" and septic shock as "sepsis associated with hyperlactatemia or hypotension refractory to fluid resuscitation". (14)

As time passed, the need for a new definition was imminent due to the limitations of the previous criteria. The new criteria for sepsis addressed the previous limitations and focused

more on systemizing organ dysfunction rather than on identifying inflammatory markers, hence sepsis is no longer being considered as only an inflammatory disorder. (15)

The previous classification has been simplified by removing the term "severe sepsis" and changing the terms sepsis, severe sepsis, and septic shock to infection, sepsis, and septic shock. Other than changing the terms, the definition of sepsis itself has been changed to and currently defined as "the presence of an infection combined with an acute change in SOFA score of 2 points or more". (16)

4.3 Criteria

The Sequential Organ Failure Assessment Score, also known as the SOFA Score, is a scoring system used to assess the performance of various organ systems in the human body, which are the respiratory, coagulatory, cardiovascular, renal, liver, and neurologic. After the data on these organ systems is obtained, a score is assigned. The likelihood of mortality increases with the SOFA score, meaning that the higher the score, the higher is the risk of death. (17)

The intent of the SOFA score is to act as a research tool in which groups of patients can be categorized based on their risk of death. When used in sepsis cases and applied to group of patients, the SOFA score is fairly accurate. However, the SOFA itself has limitations and can not provide information on a singular patient regarding survival, as it focuses on populations rather than individual patients. (17)

4.4 Symptoms

Sepsis patients present with a wide variety of signs and symptoms depending on the severity and progression of the disease. General features include fever, tachycardia, tachypnea, and generalized edema. Features of organ dysfunction may include an altered mental status, hypotension, jaundice, oliguria, symptoms of acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), etc. (18) Sepsis manifests with a spectrum of severity, beginning with a milder form during which there is a light derangement in vital signs such as increased temperature and respiratory rate, it can then develop to a more severe form which manifests with hypotension that is responsive to intravenous fluids and organ dysfunction. In its worst case, sepsis develops to a point where the hypotension becomes resistant to intravenous fluids with an elevation of serum lactate, also known as septic shock. (19)

4.5 Diagnosis

Early detection of sepsis is critical in preventing the potentially fatal outcome of this condition, as well as in initiating life-saving treatment which includes intravenous antibiotic administration and fluid resuscitation, as well as oxygen therapy. (20)

A single method for diagnosing sepsis has not yet been established, hence the use of a combination of tests and clinical signs such as the presence of an infection, hypotension, tachycardia, and increased respiratory rate. (20)

Laboratory studies used for diagnosis include at least two sets of serum lactate and blood cultures. In addition, a CBC, CRP, procalcitonin, BMP, and electrolytes will be evaluated, as well as liver chemistry, synthetic function test, coagulation panel, and D-dimer. (21)

In order to establish and identify the source of infection, a blood culture must be performed. A blood culture test is needed in order to identify what type of bacteria or fungi are responsible for the infection in the blood. It is required to take more than one blood culture from different veins, and the results take up to several days. (22)

Imaging is used if the site of infection is not readily found. Commonly used imaging tests include chest and abdominal x-ray, ultrasound, CT scan and echocardiography. (20)

4.6 Screening methods

Screening tools for sepsis were designed to promote early detection of sepsis. Most of these tools have a wide variety of diagnostic accuracy and a poor predictive value, although the use of some has shown improvements in care processes. Some of these tools used for sepsis screening are systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) criteria, quick Sequential Organ Failure Score (qSOFA), or Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) criteria. (23)

The qSOFA uses three variables in order to predict death and a prolonged ICU stay in patients with known or presumed sepsis: a Glasgow Coma Score less than 15, a respiratory rate equal to, or greater than 22 breaths per minute, and a systolic blood pressure equal to, or less than 100 mmHg. When any two of these variables are present simultaneously, we consider the patient to be qSOFA positive. (23)

Neither the qSOFA or the SIRS criteria are ideal screening tools for sepsis, and their limitations need to be taken into consideration. However, while there is a variation in their sensitivity and specificity, they play an important part in early detection for a timely intervention. (23)

4.7 Treatment

The management of sepsis and septic shock should be performed as a medical emergency. Timely intervention which includes removal of the source of infection is key to an effective treatment, and an aggressive assessment of an unidentified source through laboratory testing and diagnostic imaging is critical for the initial management of sepsis. (3)

An early initiation of an appropriate antimicrobial therapy, in conjunction with restoration of tissue perfusion via fluid resuscitation are a crucial part of initial sepsis management. The aim of such treatment is to correct the hypovolemia by increasing blood volume, with a consequent increase in venous return and cardiac preload, subsequently increasing CO and ultimately oxygen delivery. Although different types of fluids for the treatment of sepsis have been proposed over the years, crystalloids have repeatedly been recommended over colloids. (24)

In conjunction with fluid resuscitation, obtaining appropriate cultures and immediate administration of empiric broad-spectrum antimicrobials should be performed in the initial phase as well. (25)

4.8 Source Control

Source control includes removal of the infected tissue, drainage of an abscess, and if there is an infected device that is causing the sepsis then it should be removed immediately as well. Source control is considered best practice in the management of sepsis and can be done via percutaneous drainage or open surgery. An inadequate early source control was shown to be associated with an increase in 28-day mortality from 26.7% to 42.9%. (1)

5. Infusion Therapy

In early sepsis, patients tend to often be hypovolemic due to increased insensible losses and decreased oral intake. The process of inflammation during sepsis alters vascular resistance resulting in sepsis induced vasodilation, increases venous capacitance, and causes capillary leakage. All of the above mentioned changes that occur during early sepsis lead to a state known as "relative hypovolemia". (26)

5.1 Sepsis Resuscitation

One of the most important and common methods in managing critically hypotensive patients is fluid resuscitation. For over 100 years we have been using crystalloids, mineral salts, or other water soluble molecule solutions for fluid resuscitation. In the past decade, several colloids have been developed in order to improve intravascular volume more efficiently. However, efficacy and safety of colloids has been challenging to evaluate in certain patients since there might be an interruption in the integrity of the endothelial glycocalyx layer under inflammatory conditions such as sepsis, surgery, or trauma. (6) Sepsis disrupts the endothelial glycocalyx layer and causes damage to the microvasculature, which results in an interstitial accumulation of fluid and subsequently edema. Although fluid resuscitation is the gold standard in the initial treatment of sepsis, edema related complications are unfortunately a common consequence of current resuscitation strategies. (27)

The optimal fluid regimen, which includes the type and volume of fluid to be given, is unclear. Over the past decade, there have been numerous randomized controlled trials and metaanalyses to help form an appropriate conclusion to this issue, resulting in no clear consensus or recommendations on a specific therapy. (28)

The most recent recommendation by the Surviving Sepsis Campaign is 30 cc/kg of crystalloid within the first 3 hours for any hypovolemic septic patient, the type of crystalloid to be used is, however, not specified. (29)

When talking about fluid resuscitation we need to first focus on the initial resuscitation. The resuscitation of a patient with severe sepsis or sepsis induced hypoperfusion, such as hypotension or lactic acidosis, should begin as soon as soon as the condition is recognized and should not be postponed until ICU admission. During the first 6 hours of resuscitation, the goals of initial resuscitation of sepsis induced hypoperfusion should include all of the following: central venous pressure of 8-12 mmHg, mean arterial pressure ≥ 65 mmHg, urine output ≥ 0.5 ml/kg/hr, and a central venous or mixed venous oxygen saturation ≥ 70 %. (30)

5.2 Optimal Fluid Management after Resuscitation

Little attention has been dedicated to the optimal fluid management after the first 6 to 12 hours of sepsis. Although the optimal fluid strategy for each phase of the treatment remains largely undefined, there is a broad agreement that fluid management may differ during different phases of sepsis. Monitoring the patient's cardiac output, pulse pressure and stroke volume variation, as well as the interior vena cava diameter and stroke volume assessment by echocardiography are all recommended procedures to help guide fluid administration. However, many dynamic measures cannot be used for patients who are breathing spontaneously or receiving low tidal volume ventilation. (27)

5.3 Fluid Choice

Since the invention of IV fluids, there have been ongoing debates as to which fluid is best suitable for critically ill patients suffering from infection. The ideal fluid for sepsis resuscitation would increase intravascular volume without causing edema, be similar to plasma in terms of chemical composition, and in a cost-effective manner improve patient outcomes. Unfortunately, to this day no such fluid exists. The available IV fluids on the market are categorized as crystalloid or colloid. (2)

5.4 Crystalloids

Crystalloid fluids are a subset of intravenous solutions created for the use in clinical settings. They are composed of water-soluble electrolytes that include sodium and chloride, lacking proteins and insoluble molecules. Isotonic crystalloid solutions contain the same amount of electrolytes as the plasma, while hypertonic and hypotonic crystalloids contain more and less, respectively. Most crystalloid solutions that are commercially available are isotonic to human plasma and do not exert an osmotic effect in vivo. (31)

Crystalloid solutions are the first choice for fluid resuscitation with patients that suffer from hypovolemia, haemorrhage, sepsis, and dehydration. Their function is to expand intravascular volume without causing significant fluid shifts between intracellular, intravascular, and interstitial spaces or disturbing the ion concentration. (25)

The most frequently used crystalloid solution is Normal Saline (0.9% NaCl solution), other commercially available crystalloids are lactated Ringer's/Hartman's solution, acetate buffered solution, acetate and lactate buffered solution, acetate and gluconate buffered solution, 0.45% NaCl (hypotonic) solution, 3% (hypertonic) solution, 5% Dextrose in water, and 10% Dextrose in water. (24)

Normal saline

Normal saline, or 0.9% sodium chloride is the most commonly used intravenous fluid worldwide. Due to its strong ion difference of zero, as opposed to plasma which has a strong ion difference of about 24 meq/L, normal saline is considered "unbalanced".

Resuscitation with normal saline has been shown to cause a hyperchloremic metabolic acidosis which appears to alter renal blood flow and alter renal function, it is also associated with increased inflammatory markers. As a result of these findings, the use of normal saline in the treatment of severely septic patients is undergoing investigation. Instead, the use of "balanced" crystalloids might be a safer alternative. (30)

Balanced Crystalloids

Two similar and closely related solutions known as Lactated Ringer's and Hartmann's solution are an example of balanced crystalloids. Lactated Ringer's solution is used in the United States, whereas Hartmann's solution is used in Europe.

Another balanced crystalloid is Plasma-lyte, which is a relatively new crystalloid that was designed as a physiologic fluid. These fluids have an electrolyte content which more closely resembles that of plasma, as well as a much lower chloride concentration than normal saline. The difference between these solutions is that lactated Ringer's and Hartmann's solution both contain calcium ion, whereas Plasma-lyte does not, allowing Plasma-lyte to be given concurrently with blood products while lactated Ringer's and Hartmann's solution carry the risk of potentially causing a blood clot in the transfusion line.

In sepsis literature, there is lacking data in comparing balanced crystalloids to normal saline, however an animal study which investigated normal saline versus Plasma-lyte resuscitation in a rat model of sepsis found reduced short-term mortality as well as decreased acute kidney injury in the Plasma-lyte group. (32)

Hypertonic saline

Hypertonic saline is a solution of sodium chloride (NaCl) in water with a higher sodium concentration than normal blood serum. There was an increased interest in the use of hypertonic saline for sepsis resuscitation in the 1990's and early 2000's. The proposed benefits included reduced endothelial cell edema leading to improved microcirculatory flow, increased myocardial contractility, and decreased neutrophil infiltration and inflammatory damage in the lungs. It was postulated that "small volume" resuscitation with hypertonic saline would achieve hemodynamic normalization by recruitment of fluid from the intracellular space, thereby limiting interstitial edema. Small clinical trials were performed in patients who were already hemodynamically stable revealed improved hemodynamics such as increased cardiac output after resuscitation with hypertonic saline versus normal saline. (33)

As time passed, the use of hypertonic saline in the management of sepsis has subsided as it has shown to worsen coagulation parameters in vitro. In addition, hemorrhagic trauma patients that have received hypertonic solutions during pre-hospital resuscitation were found to have increased coagulopathy compared to those who have received resuscitation with normal saline. (34)

5.5 Colloids

Colloid solutions contain high molecular weight molecules also known as macromolecules that are suspended in a crystalloid carrier solution. Unlike crystalloids, colloids are substances that can not as easily diffuse through membranes, thus being confined to the intravascular space. The insoluble molecules in colloids include starch, bovine protein also known as gelatine, and human protein also known as albumin. (35)

The use of colloids is for plasma volume expansion. The particles in colloid solutions are too large to pass through a semipermeable membrane such as capillary membranes, making it possible for colloid solutions to stay in intravascular spaces for longer periods of time that crystalloids. They are typically used to maintain circulating fluid volume after blood loss from trauma or surgery. (36)

Albumin

Albumin accounts for 50-60% of the protein content in plasma by mass, making it the most abundant plasma protein. Around 40% of the body's albumin is located in the intravascular space, and it is the primary determinant of the oncotic pressure of plasma. (37)

Human albumin has been administered to patients in order to provide adequate oncotic pressure and intravascular volume for decades. However, a Cochrane Review from 1998 suggested that the administration of albumin may be potentially harmful in critically ill patients that were resuscitated with albumin compared to crystalloid solutions. Subsequent trials reported contradictory findings. (38)

For clarification purposes, a large multinational randomized controlled trial known as the Saline versus Albumin Fluid Evaluation (SAFE) study was conducted. In the SAFE study, 4% albumin solution was compared with normal saline as fluid replacement in 7000 randomized critically ill patients, with results which indicated that albumin administration was safe and that there was no difference in 28 day outcomes between the two groups. Subsequently, a predefined subgroup analysis of septic patients showed that there was a modest mortality benefit which favoured 4% albumin after adjustment for baseline covariates that those receiving normal saline. (39)

Between 1982 and 2012, Patel et al completed a meta-analysis that included 16 clinical trials investigating the use of albumin as a resuscitative fluid in septic patients. A mixture of randomized trials was included which compared albumin to a number of different fluids including normal saline, lactated Ringer's, and hydroxyethyl starch (HES) solutions. No statistical difference in mortality in septic, severely septic, or septic shock patients that were resuscitated with albumin compared to the other fluids was found. (40)

Hydroxyethyl starch

Hydroxyethyl starch, also known as HES, is a semi-synthetic colloid solution which is a nonionic starch derivative from chemically modified plant starch. Different types of HES solutions have varying pharmacokinetics due to differences in molecular weight, degree of hydroxyethyl substitution of the starch molecule, and the concentration of the solution. Hydroxyethyl starches used to be the most commonly used colloids worldwide, however their use has subsided after several randomized clinical trials and systematic reviews revealed potential harm, including an increased risk of bleeding, acute kidney injury, and mortality. The most recent type of HES, known as HES 130/0.38-0.45 or tetrastarch, was put on the market in 1999. Since then, it has been discovered that HES 130/0.38-0.45 also poses a risk of serious adverse events in patients with sepsis as a result of three large trials that were published in 2012. (41)

Plasma

After erythrocytes, leukocytes, and platelets are removes from the blood, what is left is called plasma. Plasma is a protein rich fluid and could even be thought of as a "super-colloid". Although plasma is unstudied in the setting of sepsis, it has the potential of being an ideal resuscitative fluid which in the setting of sepsis would achieve euvolemia without causing oedema. What is known to date about plasma based resuscitation mostly comes from studies that were performed in the setting of trauma and haemorrhagic shock. Using plasma as the primary volume expander instead of crystalloid or colloid fluids in damage control resuscitation principles has been associated with decreased mortality, decreased oedemamediated complications, as well as a decreased incidence of inflammatory-mediated complications such as venous thromboembolism, acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), and multiple organ failure. (42)

The effects on the endothelial glycocalyx (EGL) have been shown to be similar between trauma and sepsis, meaning that both produce similar changes and have similar effects on the EGL itself. Serum levels of EGL components such as the protein syndecan-1 are elevated in both trauma and septic patients compared to healthy individuals, and increasing levels of

serum EGL components correlate with an increase in morbidity and mortality in trauma as well as sepsis. (43)

Plasma resuscitation has been shown to repair the EGL and reduce pulmonary endothelial permeability in animal models of haemorrhagic shock, and more recently it has been shown to reduce gut injury and inflammation in an animal model as well.

Although the results in animal models look promising, there is currently no definitive data in human subjects to show that plasma reduces endothelial injury in trauma or in sepsis. (42)

5.6 Crystalloids vs. colloids

Sepsis causes a disruption of the endothelial glycocalyx layer and damage of the microvasculature, which results in interstitial accumulation of fluid and edema. Fluid resuscitation is the foundation in the initial treatment of sepsis, however, the optimal fluid regimen, as well as the fluid type and volume, is unclear. (44)

The ideal fluid for resuscitation is one which restores intravascular volume while minimizing the occurrence of edema, unfortunately edema is a common consequence of current resuscitation strategies. (45)

The most recent guidelines by the Surviving Sepsis Campaign recommend 30 cc/kg of crystalloid within the first three hours for hypovolemic septic patients, without any specification on the type of crystalloid to be used. Crystalloids are recommended as first-line therapy, the safest choice being balanced crystalloids since there is increasing evidence associating normal saline with increased mortality and kidney injury. (36)

5.7 Early Goal-Directed Therapy (EGDT)

In 2001, a landmark study by Rivers et al. compared the usual care to a more protocolized approach to sepsis resuscitation with the use of IV fluids, vasopressors, and blood transfusion. During the trial, 263 patients suffering from sepsis and hypoperfusion were randomized to either the standard therapy or EGDT which utilizes continuous monitoring of central venous

pressure, mean arterial pressure, as well as central venous oxygen saturation to guide the use of intravenous fluids, vasoactive drugs, and red cell transfusions in order to optimize tissue oxygen delivery. The in-hospital mortality was 16% lower with EGDT than with the usual care. (46)

The remarkable improvement in mortality that was reported during this trial led to the incorporation of goal-directed fluid resuscitation into the recommendation for early sepsis management in the Surviving Sepsis Campaign (SSC) Guidelines, which was established in 2002 and published in 2004. The first guidelines that were published in 2004 highlighted the importance and need for aggressive fluid resuscitation. It was subsequently felt that fluid resuscitation could be with either crystalloids or colloids, which resulted in a surge of research into the ideal fluid for sepsis. (47)

6. Vasopressors

Vasopressors are medications used to create vasoconstriction for the treatment of hypotension and hemodynamic instability associated with shock, they are commonly used to restore and maintain blood pressure in patients with sepsis. Vasopressors are an integral part of supportive care in sepsis by maintaining adequate organ perfusion and interrupting the progression of organ dysfunction. Although the appropriate timing of initiation of vasopressors is unclear, restoring circulatory volume early is necessary to ensure adequate perfusion of distal organs. Currently there is an increasing amount of evidence to guide us as to when exactly vasopressors should be initiated in a patient's resuscitation in order to improve perfusion. (48)

6.2 Norepinephrine

Norepinephrine (NE) is recommended as the first line vasopressor in the management of septic shock patients. The vasoconstrictive action of NE is excreted through the stimulation of α 1-adrenergic receptors, while having little influence on the heart rate. A series of validated reasons has supported the growing consensus for the need of early Norepinephrine administration in septic patients over the years. The reason for this is that prolonged

hypotension is one of the main determinants of mortality, thus reversing hypotension or even limiting its duration improves patient outcome. (49)

Another reason that supports early NE administration is the fact that the stimulation of α 1-receptors on the venous side triggers venous constriction and, as a result, increases the amount of stressed blood volume which leads to an enhanced venous return and improved cardiac preload. Under such conditions, fluid administration should be more efficient as it would be done in a more pressurized venous system, which would act on the stressed volume and ultimately end up reducing the amount of fluid given. (50)

Lastly, in the initial phases of septic shock, cardiac β 1-adrenergic receptors are still expressed on cardiac cells which allows cardiac contractility to increase through norepinephrine administration. This effect of NE is also promoted by an accompanying increase in diastolic arterial pressure, which is the perfusion pressure of the left ventricle coronary artery. (51)

The consensus once NE administration is started is that the dosage should be titrated to obtain a mean arterial pressure (MAP) of 65 mmHg. Whether higher values should be targeted is not clear. A study, known as SEPSISPAM, compared 65 mmHg to 85 mmHg as a MAP target, however there were no significant differences in terms of mortality between the two. (51)

However, when a subgroup of patients who had a history of arterial hypertension were analysed, a higher MAP target wa shown to be beneficial on the renal function. As a result, the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine (ESICM) recommended that a MAP value which is greater than 65 mmHg should be the initial blood pressure target in septic shock patients who suffer from arterial hypertension. The use of a second vasopressor is advised when elevated doses of NE are required for refractory hypotension. (50)

6.3 Other vasoactive agents

Vasopressin

To reduce the amount of adrenergic tone and increase vasoconstriction through a different receptor stimulation, the 2016 SSC guidelines suggested to add another vasoactive agent called vasopressin to norepinephrine in case of refractory shock. One meta-analysis showed that in the association of vasopressin with NE, the rate of arrhythmic events such as atrial fibrillation was reduced compared to the use of NE by itself. However, no changes regarding mortality were recorded. It is important to point out that vasopressin is not available in all countries. (48)

Epinephrine

In case of concurrent cardiac dysfunction, the use of another second-line vasopressor is recommended by the 2016 SSC; this vasopressor is epinephrine. According to existing literature, however, no superiority was observed in terms of patient survival with the use of epinephrine alone compared to patients treated with a combination of norepinephrine and dobutamine. (52)

Dopamine

The use of dopamine is currently only recommended in case of bradycardia. Although it was recommended by previous guidelines, it should not be used in the management of septic patients as a vasopressor or a renal protective agent. Its use has been shown to be associated with an increased risk of cardiac arrhythmias and mortality, compared to norepinephrine. (49)

7. Conclusion

Sepsis is still a common condition that is associated with a high mortality and long-term morbidity for patients who survive. Despite there still not being an ideal treatment and fluid resuscitation method, sepsis outcomes have drastically improved as a result of major improvements in supportive care, rapid recognition of the disease, and the delivery of effective antibiotics. (30)

The optimal fluid for the initial resuscitation in sepsis remains unclear since it is a complicated condition that resists a one size fits all approach. Balanced crystalloids appear to be superior to normal saline, albumin seems to be equivalent to crystalloids in terms of outcomes, but are considered second-line due to the higher cost. Hydroxyethyl starches have shown to increase mortality and acute kidney injury (AKI) in critically ill septic patients and are no longer indicated for the treatment of sepsis after the EMA and FDA issues warnings in 2013. Clinical data regarding the use of hypertonic saline is very limited, and there is no data regarding the use of plasma in sepsis resuscitation. There are, however, theoretical benefits of resuscitation with plasma in sepsis, which includes repair of the endothelial glycocalyx layer, restoration of microvasculature integrity, and limitation of interstitial edema, which should prompt further investigation. (30)

References

- 1. Cecconi M, Evans L, Levy M, Rhodes A. Sepsis and septic shock. Lancet Lond Engl. 2018 Jul 7;392(10141):75–87.
- 2. Semler MW, Rice TW. Sepsis Resuscitation: Fluid Choice and Dose. Clin Chest Med. 2016 Jun;37(2):241–50.
- 3. Gavelli F, Castello LM, Avanzi GC. Management of sepsis and septic shock in the emergency department. Intern Emerg Med. 2021 Sep;16(6):1649–61.
- 4. Rochwerg B, Alhazzani W, Sindi A, Heels-Ansdell D, Thabane L, Fox-Robichaud A, et al. Fluid resuscitation in sepsis: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Ann Intern Med. 2014 Sep 2;161(5):347–55.
- Font MD, Thyagarajan B, Khanna AK. Sepsis and Septic Shock Basics of diagnosis, pathophysiology and clinical decision making. Med Clin North Am. 2020 Jul;104(4):573–85.
- Bozza FA, Carnevale R, Japiassú AM, Castro-Faria-Neto HC, Angus DC, Salluh JIF. Early fluid resuscitation in sepsis: evidence and perspectives. Shock Augusta Ga. 2010 Sep;34 Suppl 1:40–3.
- 7. Chang R, Holcomb JB. Choice of Fluid Therapy in the Initial Management of Sepsis, Severe Sepsis, and Septic Shock. Shock Augusta Ga. 2016 Jul;46(1):17–26.
- Douglas IS, Alapat PM, Corl KA, Exline MC, Forni LG, Holder AL, et al. Fluid Response Evaluation in Sepsis Hypotension and Shock: A Randomized Clinical Trial. Chest. 2020 Oct;158(4):1431–45.
- 9. O'Brien JM, Ali NA, Aberegg SK, Abraham E. Sepsis. Am J Med. 2007 Dec;120(12):1012–22.
- 10. Jacobi J. Pathophysiology of sepsis. Am J Health-Syst Pharm AJHP Off J Am Soc Health-Syst Pharm. 2002 Feb 15;59 Suppl 1:S3-8.
- Gotts JE, Matthay MA. Sepsis: pathophysiology and clinical management. BMJ. 2016 May 23;353:i1585.
- 12. Chiu C, Legrand M. Epidemiology of sepsis and septic shock. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2021 Apr 1;34(2):71–6.
- Jacobi J. The pathophysiology of sepsis 2021 update: Part 2, organ dysfunction and assessment. Am J Health-Syst Pharm AJHP Off J Am Soc Health-Syst Pharm. 2022 Mar 7;79(6):424–36.
- 14. Singer M, Deutschman CS, Seymour CW, Shankar-Hari M, Annane D, Bauer M, et al. The Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3). JAMA. 2016 Feb 23;315(8):801–10.

- 15. Esposito S, De Simone G, Boccia G, De Caro F, Pagliano P. Sepsis and septic shock: New definitions, new diagnostic and therapeutic approaches. J Glob Antimicrob Resist. 2017 Sep;10:204–12.
- 16. Gül F, Arslantaş MK, Cinel İ, Kumar A. Changing Definitions of Sepsis. Turk J Anaesthesiol Reanim. 2017 Jun;45(3):129–38.
- Liu C, Suo S, Luo L, Chen X, Ling C, Cao S. SOFA Score in relation to Sepsis: Clinical Implications in Diagnosis, Treatment, and Prognostic Assessment. Comput Math Methods Med. 2022;2022:7870434.
- Hunt A. Sepsis: an overview of the signs, symptoms, diagnosis, treatment and pathophysiology. Emerg Nurse J RCN Accid Emerg Nurs Assoc. 2019 Sep 2;27(5):32– 41.
- 19. Avila AA, Kinberg EC, Sherwin NK, Taylor RD. The Use of Fluids in Sepsis. Cureus. 2016 Mar 10;8(3):e528.
- 20. Evans T. Diagnosis and management of sepsis. Clin Med Lond Engl. 2018 Mar;18(2):146–9.
- 21. Sandquist M, Wong HR. Biomarkers of sepsis and their potential value in diagnosis, prognosis and treatment. Expert Rev Clin Immunol. 2014 Oct;10(10):1349–56.
- 22. Ackerman MH, Ahrens T, Kelly J, Pontillo A. Sepsis. Crit Care Nurs Clin North Am. 2021 Dec;33(4):407–18.
- 23. Liu Z, Meng Z, Li Y, Zhao J, Wu S, Gou S, et al. Prognostic accuracy of the serum lactate level, the SOFA score and the qSOFA score for mortality among adults with Sepsis. Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med. 2019 Apr 30;27(1):51.
- 24. Tseng CH, Chen TT, Wu MY, Chan MC, Shih MC, Tu YK. Resuscitation fluid types in sepsis, surgical, and trauma patients: a systematic review and sequential network metaanalyses. Crit Care Lond Engl. 2020 Dec 14;24(1):693.
- 25. Jozwiak M, Hamzaoui O, Monnet X, Teboul JL. Fluid resuscitation during early sepsis: a need for individualization. Minerva Anestesiol. 2018 Aug;84(8):987–92.
- 26. Seitz KP, Qian ET, Semler MW. Intravenous fluid therapy in sepsis. Nutr Clin Pract Off Publ Am Soc Parenter Enter Nutr. 2022 Oct;37(5):990–1003.
- 27. Kuttab HI, Lykins JD, Hughes MD, Wroblewski K, Keast EP, Kukoyi O, et al. Evaluation and Predictors of Fluid Resuscitation in Patients With Severe Sepsis and Septic Shock. Crit Care Med. 2019 Nov;47(11):1582–90.
- 28. Loflin R, Winters ME. Fluid Resuscitation in Severe Sepsis. Emerg Med Clin North Am. 2017 Feb;35(1):59–74.
- 29. Madhusudan P, Tirupakuzhi Vijayaraghavan BK, Cove ME. Fluid resuscitation in sepsis: reexamining the paradigm. BioMed Res Int. 2014;2014:984082.

- Brown RM, Semler MW. Fluid Management in Sepsis. J Intensive Care Med. 2019 May;34(5):364–73.
- Brown RM, Wang L, Coston TD, Krishnan NI, Casey JD, Wanderer JP, et al. Balanced Crystalloids versus Saline in Sepsis. A Secondary Analysis of the SMART Clinical Trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2019 Dec 15;200(12):1487–95.
- Jackson KE, Wang L, Casey JD, Bernard GR, Self WH, Rice TW, et al. Effect of Early Balanced Crystalloids Before ICU Admission on Sepsis Outcomes. Chest. 2021 Feb;159(2):585–95.
- Orbegozo D, Vincent JL, Creteur J, Su F. Hypertonic Saline in Human Sepsis: A Systematic Review of Randomized Controlled Trials. Anesth Analg. 2019 Jun;128(6):1175–84.
- 34. Singh A, Carlin BW, Shade D, Kaplan PD. The use of hypertonic saline for fluid resuscitation in sepsis: a review. Crit Care Nurs Q. 2009;32(1):10–3.
- 35. Casey JD, Brown RM, Semler MW. Resuscitation fluids. Curr Opin Crit Care. 2018 Dec;24(6):512–8.
- 36. Lewis SR, Pritchard MW, Evans DJ, Butler AR, Alderson P, Smith AF, et al. Colloids versus crystalloids for fluid resuscitation in critically ill people. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2018 Aug 3;8(8):CD000567.
- 37. Tamion F. [Albumin in sepsis]. Ann Fr Anesth Reanim. 2010 Sep;29(9):629-34.
- 38. Caironi P, Tognoni G, Masson S, Fumagalli R, Pesenti A, Romero M, et al. Albumin replacement in patients with severe sepsis or septic shock. N Engl J Med. 2014 Apr 10;370(15):1412–21.
- 39. Patel A, Laffan MA, Waheed U, Brett SJ. Randomised trials of human albumin for adults with sepsis: systematic review and meta-analysis with trial sequential analysis of all-cause mortality. BMJ. 2014 Jul 22;349:g4561.
- 40. Vincent JL, Russell JA, Jacob M, Martin G, Guidet B, Wernerman J, et al. Albumin administration in the acutely ill: what is new and where next? Crit Care Lond Engl. 2014 Jul 16;18(4):231.
- 41. Johansen JR, Perner A, Brodtkorb JH, Møller MH. Use of hydroxyethyl starch in sepsis research: A systematic review with meta-analysis. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2021 Nov;65(10):1355–64.
- David S, Bode C, Putensen C, Welte T, Stahl K, EXCHANGE study group. Adjuvant therapeutic plasma exchange in septic shock. Intensive Care Med. 2021 Mar;47(3):352– 4.
- 43. Iba T, Levy JH. Derangement of the endothelial glycocalyx in sepsis. J Thromb Haemost JTH. 2019 Feb;17(2):283–94.
- 44. Martin GS, Bassett P. Crystalloids vs. colloids for fluid resuscitation in the Intensive Care Unit: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Crit Care. 2019 Apr;50:144–54.

- 45. Vincent JL, De Backer D, Wiedermann CJ. Fluid management in sepsis: The potential beneficial effects of albumin. J Crit Care. 2016 Oct;35:161–7.
- 46. Rivers E, Nguyen B, Havstad S, Ressler J, Muzzin A, Knoblich B, et al. Early goaldirected therapy in the treatment of severe sepsis and septic shock. N Engl J Med. 2001 Nov 8;345(19):1368–77.
- 47. PRISM Investigators, Rowan KM, Angus DC, Bailey M, Barnato AE, Bellomo R, et al. Early, Goal-Directed Therapy for Septic Shock - A Patient-Level Meta-Analysis. N Engl J Med. 2017 Jun 8;376(23):2223–34.
- 48. Colling KP, Banton KL, Beilman GJ. Vasopressors in Sepsis. Surg Infect. 2018;19(2):202–7.
- 49. Stratton L, Berlin DA, Arbo JE. Vasopressors and Inotropes in Sepsis. Emerg Med Clin North Am. 2017 Feb;35(1):75–91.
- 50. Hamzaoui O, Scheeren TWL, Teboul JL. Norepinephrine in septic shock: when and how much? Curr Opin Crit Care. 2017 Aug;23(4):342–7.
- Ruslan MA, Baharuddin KA, Noor NM, Yazid MB, Noh AYM, Rahman A. Norepinephrine in Septic Shock: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. West J Emerg Med. 2021 Feb 16;22(2):196–203.
- 52. Dellinger RP, Levy MM, Rhodes A, Annane D, Gerlach H, Opal SM, et al. Surviving sepsis campaign: international guidelines for management of severe sepsis and septic shock: 2012. Crit Care Med. 2013 Feb;41(2):580–637.